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2013 24
@
2021
382,313,009.73 42.80
227,181,965.99 25.43
201,000,000.00 22.50
77,245,951.28 8.65
887,740,927.00 99.39
( ) 5,487,172.54 0.61
X N 893,228,099.54 100.00
( 11,299 )
@
2021
O ( ) ( )

)

TURKEY GOVERNMENT BOND

9.9PCT 22SEP21 9.200| 2021/9/22 215,000,000.00( 0.97] 207,628,772.00| 0.99( 212,124,233.24| 23.75

TRT230222T13 01JUL21

18 39%AKM 18.390| 2021/7/1 201,000,000.00( 1.00| 201,000,000.00( 1.00| 201,000,000.00( 22.50

TURKIYE VAKIFLAR

BANKASI 0 09Jul21 0.000( 2021/7/9 80,000,000.00( 0.96 76,572,088.00 1.00 79,681,124.32 8.92

FDTRY AKM 17.75PCT

26JUL21 17.750| 2021/7/26 77,245,951.28( 1.00 77,245,951.28| 1.00 77,245,951.28 8.65

TURK EKONOMI' BANKASI

AS OPCT 20AUG21 0.000| 2021/8/20 70,000,000.00| 0.96 67,459,000.00( 0.97 68,235,416.74 7.64

AK YATIRIM MENKUL DEG

AS OPCT 130CT21 0.000( 2021/10/13 70,000,000.00( 0.94 65,648,100.00| 0.95 66,407,955.58 7.43

AKBANK TAS OPCT

070CT21 0.000( 2021/10/7 50,000,000.00( 0.94 47,241,000.00( 0.95 47,585,875.02 5.33

QNB FINANSBANK A.S. 0

150ct21 0.000( 2021/10/15 32,500,000.00( 0.92 29,813,143.75| 0.95 30,824,666.31 3.45

QNB FINANSBANK AS

TURKEY OPCT 30JUL21 0.000( 2021/7/30 25,000,000.00( 0.92 23,047,750.00( 0.99 24,676,483.66 2.76

QNB FINANSBANK AS OPCT

10 27AUG21 0.000| 2021/8/27 20,000,000.00| 0.96 19,138,000.00( 0.97 19,428,674.54 2.18
TURKIYE GARANTI

11 BANKASI OPCT 03SEP21 0.000| 2021/9/3 20,000,000.00| 0.95 19,071,000.00( 0.97 19,360,688.25 2.17

12 AKBANK TAS OPCT 0.000| 2021/7/1 19,250,000.00| 0.98 18,924,386.25| 1.00( 19,250,000.00 2.16

01JuL21

TURKEY GOVERNMENT BOND
13 13.800000 200ct21 13.800| 2021/10/20 15,235,000.00| 0.99 15,052,941.75| 0.99 15,057,732.75 1.69

14

QNB FINANSBANK AS

TURKEY OPCT 13AUG21 0.000| 2021/8/13 7,000,000.00| 0.97 6,769,140.00| 0.98 6,862,125.31 0.77

1 2021 14
2
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47,895,501.00 605,878 0.01 0.1265

(2014 19 )
53,054,040.00 671,134 0.01 0.1265

(2015 19 )
78,400,496.00 991,766 0.01 0.1265

(2016 19 )
134,183,223.78 1,697,418 0.01 0.1265

(2017 19 )
273,535,543.00 3,460,225 0.01 0.1265

(2018 19 )
470,023,300.00 5,945,795 0.01 0.1265

(2019 19 )
764,811,580.00 9,674,866 0.01 0.1265

(2020 19 )
70,720,973. 11,014,620 .01 0.1265

(2021 19 ) 870,720,973.00 0.0

2020 699,833,603.94 8,852,895 0.01 0.1265
700,272,134.39 8,858,443 0.01 0.1265
761,009, 663.29 9,626,772 0.01 0.1265
10 775,677,369.56 9,812,319 0.01 0.1265
11 803,688,295.68 10,166,657 0.01 0.1265
12 873,522,074.89 11,050,054 0.01 0.1265
2021 881,367,821.97 11,149,303 0.01 0.1265
885,237,316.75 11,198,252 0.01 0.1265
877,483,340.75 11,100,164 0.01 0.1265
872,335,643.86 11,035,046 0.01 0.1265
879,784,289.19 11,129,271 0.01 0.1265
893,228,099.54 11,299,335 0.01 0.1265
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2013498 2014898 201569H  2016F98  2017569H 2018598 2019898 2020598

2013 24 2014 19 0.000294416 0.003724362
2014 20 2015 19 0.000636892 0.008056684
2015 20 2016 19 0.000770311 0.009744434
2016 20 2017 19 0.000796358 0.010073929
2017 20 2018 19 0.001067952 0.013509593
2018 20 2019 19 0.001729305 0.021875708
2019 20 2020 19 0.001553185 0.019647790
2020 20 2021 19 0.000921065 0.011651472
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16.68%

20.0

10.47%

10.0 7.37% 8.44% B.62% - 400

6.54%
1.71%

2013 20145 20158 20168F 20178 20188 20198 20208 20018

SEECIERT. 80Uy — (i (FIEOHEESE-001
HIRLSORTAOMOER) ) ZHEL. BER (201 3FE9824H )%=
10,000& L1 Ta—T Y AA Twi 2 @ IR THY, LB/ T —
TUAA TV AUCE LT LD

) 201 3FEX082480'E | 2AXBHETOINGETT
2021#21 8 B S6AFXAFTOIREETT

GEB) BT DrURIIARYFT—2IRE0E A
(©))

5,322,890,213 481,141,558 4,841,748,655

2013 24 2014 19 (3,271,402,725) (481,141,558)|  (2,790,261,167)

4,011,610,366 3,504,448,277 5,348,910,744

2014 20 2015 19 (3,878,082,428) |  (3,004,448,277)| (3,663,895,318)

9,413,703,964 6,892,288,269 7,870,326,439

2015 20 2016 19 (9,019,260,444)|  (5,102,829,323)|  (7,580,326,439)

10,032,107,359 4,461,388,140 13,441,045,658

2016 20 2017 19 (10,020,091,799)|  (4,186,388,140)| (13,414,030,098)

24,322,316,835 10,394,639,996 27,368,722,497

2017 20 2018 19 (24,319,332,225)| (10,394,639,996)| (27,338,722,327)

38,681,929,759 19,040,728,343 47,009,923,913

2018 20 2019 19 (38,676,465,773)| (19,040,728,343)| (46,974,459,757)

76,745,710,420 47,274,479,480 76,481,154,853

2019 20 2020 19 (76,739,581,450) | (47,274,479,480)| (76,439,561,727)

108,828,823,019 98,237,882,938 87,072,094,934

2020 20 2021 19 (108,825,012,802) | (98,237,882,938)| (87,026,691,591)
1C )

2
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57,551,400 57,921,537 6.65
77,146,400 78,948,674 9.07
1,866,024 1,954,047 0.22
41,830,699 42,818,539 4.92
62,554,841 63,900,807 7.34
23,047,750 23,549,757 2.70
3,500,000 3,500,000 0.40
47,515,465 49,570,343 5.69
197,881,772 199,015,999 22.87
512,894,351 521,179,703 59.86
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103,759,002 103,759,002 11.92

81/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573

Ooooooooooooooooogno
Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
As at March 19, 2021

2021

Note TRY
Assets
Investment in debt securities, at fair value
(Cost: TRY512,894,351) 3 521,179,703
Cash and cash equivalents 6 107,506,038
Receivables from repurchase agreements 9,10 478,000,000
Subscriptions receivable 8,854,873
Interest receivable 10,557,823
Total Assets 1,126,098,437
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 241,000,000
Redemptions payable 4,690,844
Distributions payable 7,904,143
Other payables 8 1,782,477
Total Liabilities 255,377,464
Net Assets 11 870,720,973
Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per Unit
(based on 87,072,094,934 units outstanding) 5,11 TRY0.01

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustee:
DocuSigned by: DocuSigned by:
COBEZ220B2 Ezzssmomwa..
Date: Septe”rﬁ%%r 2,2021
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Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 19, 2021

Investment income
Interest income
Accretion of acquisition discount

Total investment income

Expenses

Investment Manager fees
Sub-Investment Manager fees
Distributors and Agent Company fees
Manager fees

Administration fees
Custodian fees

Trustee fees

Audit fees

Other fees and expenses
Interest expense

Total expenses
Net investment income

Net realized loss on investments

Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Note

7.8
7.8

7.8

7.8

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021
TRY

51,811,625
35,108,482

86,920,107

2,315,664
4,245,385
3,470,933
192,972
851,342
927,388
308,755
239,744
1,177,336
3,130

13,732,649
73,187,458

(21,836)

73,165,622

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 19, 2021

2021

TRY
Net Assets at beginning of year 764,811,580
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 73,165,622
Distributions to Unitholders (73,165,630)
Units issued (108,828,823,019 units) 1,088,288.230
Units redeemed (98,237,882,938 units) (982,378,829)
Net Assets at end of year 870,720,973

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 19, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets

resulting from operations to net cash used in operating activities:

Payments for purchase of debt securities

Payments for purchase of repurchase agreements
Proceeds from sale of debt securities

Proceeds from settlement of repurchase agreements
Net realized loss on investments

Increase in interest receivable

Increase in other payables

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Units
Payments for redemption of Units
Distributions paid

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplementary information:

Interest received
Interest paid

Note

Ln Lh

2021
TRY

73,165,622

(1,887,923,843)

(53,306,500,000)
1,835,173,092
53,285,500,000
21,836

(9,343,880)
593,385

(9,313,788)

1,036,853,140
(987,311,369)
(16,176,839)

33,364,932

24,051,144
83,454,894

107,506,038

42,467,745
(3.130)

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Financial Highlights
For the year ended March 19, 2021

2021
TRY
Per Unit operating performance:
NAYV per Unit, beginning of year 0.01
Income from investment operations (B)
Net investment income 0.0009
Total income from investment operations 0.0009
Less distributions (0.0009)
NAYV per Unit, end of year 0.01
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of total expenses to average Net Assets (A) (1.76)%
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 9.36%
Total Return (A) 9.35%

(A) Total return is calculated based on the change in NAV during the vear. This return includes the
return associated with the distributed amount. Expense ratio and net investment income ratio are
calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the year. The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results vary based upon participation in certain investments, fee arrangements and timing of
capital transactions. Per Unit information is calculated based upon the monthly average Units
outstanding during the year.

11
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2021

1. Description of the Trust

Turkish Lira Money Market Fund (the “Series Trust™) is a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund (the
“Trust™). The Trust is an open-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a master trust deed dated June
10, 2013 and made between the Trustee and the Manager. The Trust has been constituted as an
umbrella unit trust under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands and registered under the Mutual Funds
Act of the Cayman Islands on June 18, 2013. A separate portfolio or series trust can be created and
established to which assets and liabilities attributable to the relevant series trust will be applied. The
Master Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

As at March 19, 2021 there were two series trusts of the Trust including the Series Trust, which
commenced operations on September 24, 2013. The other series trust prepares a separate set of audited
financial statements. These financial statements comprise only the accounts of the Series Trust.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to preserve principal value and maintain a high degree
of liquidity while providing current income by investing in Turkish Lira denominated short term
financial instruments, including but not limited to government bonds, corporate bonds, certificates of
deposit, asset backed securities, bank deposits and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements.

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager”) is the Manager, Sompo Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (the “Investment Manager™) is the Investment Manager, Ak Portfoy Yonetimi A.S. (the
“Sub-Investment Manager™) is the Sub-Investment Manager and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank,
Limited (London Branch) (the “Custodian™) is the Custodian. The administration of the Series Trust is
delegated to SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator™).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principals
(“US GAAP™). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the
Manager to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Lira (“*TRY™), which is the Series Trust’s
functional currency.

The Series Trust is considered an investment company under US GAAP and follows the accounting
and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies in the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) Topic 946, Financial Services -
Investment Companies.

12
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust possesses the fundamental characteristics of
an investment company because the following conditions exist:

i. The Series Trust obtains funds from investors and provides those investors with investment
management services.

ii. The business purpose and only substantive activities, which were communicated to investors, are
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income.

iii. The Series Trust has identified exit strategies for the investments it holds for returns from capital
appreciation.

iv. The Series Trust does not have an objective of obtaining results or benefits other than capital
appreciation and investment income from its investments.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust also possesses the typical characteristics of
an investment company:

i. The Series Trust holds more than one investment.

ii. The Series Trust is funded by multiple investors.

iii. The Series Trust has investors that hold a significant interest in the Series Trust and are not related
to the Investment Manager.

iv. Ownership in the Series Trust is represented by equity interests acquired through capital
contributions.

v. The Series Trust manages and evaluates performance of investments on a fair value basis.

Use of estimates

Preparing financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including fair value of
investments set out in Note 3. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Valuation of investments

Investments consist of corporate bonds, government bonds, deposits and repurchase agreements. Debt
securities such as corporate bonds and government bonds with a remaining maturity of less than one
year are valued at fair value using an amortized cost technique (i.e. at their acquisition cost as adjusted
for the amortization of premium or accretion of discount) as the best estimate of fair value. The
Manager, through its delegates, continuously reviews the amortized cost method to ensure that
investments are stated at their fair market value. When the Series Trust purchases a financial asset and
simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset at a fixed price on a future date (“repurchase
agreement™), the arrangement is accounted for as a receivable (“receivables from repurchase
agreements™), and the underlying asset is not recognized on the Series Trust’s financial statements.

When the Series Trust sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the same asset at a fixed price on a future date, the agreement is accounted for as borrowings
(“payables under repurchase agreements™), and the underlying asset is not derecognized in the Series
Trust’s financial statements. Receivables and payables from repurchase agreements are initially
measured at fair value less incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

13
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Valuation of investments (continued)

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. At vear end, all investments are valued
as at March 18, 2021, due to March 19, 2021 being a non-business day in accordance with the Series
Trust’s Appendix to the Trust’s Offering Memorandum.

Realized gains and losses and movements in unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the
Statement of Operations and determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Movements in fair value are
recorded in the Statement of Operations at each valuation date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes highly liquid investments, such as money market funds, that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days from the date of purchase. All cash
balances are held at major banking and broker institutions.

Cash and other liquid assets are valued at their face value with coupon interest receivable accrued,
where applicable, to the end of the relevant day.

The Series Trust does not hold any restricted cash at the year end or during the year.

Investment income
Interest income is accounted for on an effective yield basis. Discounts and premiums on securities are
amortized and accreted on the effective yield basis over the life of the respective securities.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Foreign exchange transactions

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into TRY at the closing rates of
exchange on March 18, 2021, due to March 19, 2021 being a non-business day, with foreign currency
gains and losses reflected in the Statement of Operations. Purchases and sales of securities and income
and expenses are translated at the prevailing rate of exchange on the respective dates of such
transactions. Unrealized gains and losses are calculated by comparing the fair value of the investments
to the prices at which those assets were originally purchased.

The Series Trust does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in the market prices
of securities. Such fluctuations are included in net realized loss on investments in the Statement of
Operations.

Receivables from repurchase agreements
Transactions involving repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and

are recorded at their contracted resell amounts. Interest on transactions is included in interest
receivable in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

14
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2021

(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Offsetting assets and liabilities

The Series Trust is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities represented in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting arrangements on its financial position for recognized assets and liabilities.
These recognized assets and liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are
either subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following
right of set-off criteria: the amounts owed by the Series Trust to another party are determinable, the
Series Trust has the right to set-off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the
Series Trust intends to set-off, and the Series Trust’s right of set-off is enforceable at law.

Taxation

The Series Trust is a Cayman Islands exempted Trust. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands,
there are no income, estate, transfer, sale or other taxes payable by the Series Trust. The Series Trust
trades stocks and securities for its own account and, as such, is generally not subject to U.S. tax on
such earnings (other than certain withholding taxes indicated below). The Investment Manager intends
to conduct the business of the Series Trust to the maximum extent practicable so that the Series Trust’s
activities do not constitute a U.S. trade or business. Interest and other income realized by the Series
Trust from non-U.S. sources and capital gains realized on the sale of securities of non-U.S. issuers may
be subject to withholding and other taxes levied by the jurisdiction in which the income is sourced. In
accordance with the Trusts Act (2011 Revision), the Trust has received an undertaking exempting it
from all local taxes for a period of 50 years from the date of creation of the Trust.

ASC 740, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”, clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in the Series Trust’s financial statements. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax refurn. ASC 740 requires that the enterprise determines
whether it is more likely than not that a fax position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.
In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the
enterprise should presume that the position will be examined by the appropriate taxing authority that
has full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial
statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely
of being realized upon settlement.

The Investment Manager has analyzed the Series Trust’s tax positions and has concluded that no
liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be recorded related to uncertain tax positions.
Furthermore, the Investment Manager is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably
possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next twelve
months.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications
In the normal course of business the Series Trust enters into contracts that contain a variety of
representations, which provide general indemnifications. The Series Trust’s maximum exposure under
these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the
Series Trust that have not vet occurred. However, based on experience, the Series Trust expects the
risk of loss to be remote.

15
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Distribution policy

The Manager, through its delegates, declares distributions on each dealing day. The amount per Unit
distributed is a sum equal to the amount required to maintain the relevant NAV per Unit on each
dealing day at TRY0.01. Distributions payable are recognized in the Statement of Changes in Net
Assets when declared.

Classification of redemptions

ASC 480, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount requested in the redemption notice
becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a
fiscal year, depending on the nature of the request. As a result, redemptions paid after the end of the
year, but based upon year end capital balances are reflected as redemptions payable at March 19, 2021.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 which amends the fair value measurement disclosure
requirements of ASC 820. The new guidance changes the disclosure requirements in relation to Level
3 investments. As the Series Trust does not hold any Level 3 investments this has not had any impact
on the Series Trust.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price™) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

A fair value hierarchy of inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Series Trust.
Unobservable inputs reflect the Series Trust’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Series Trust has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A financial
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Manager considers observable data to be that market
data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

16

91/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573

Ooooooooooooooooogno
Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing
transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Manager’s perceived risk of
that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within
Level 1. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 1 investments at March 19, 2021.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are
classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active
markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity
and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information. Debt securities
are valued using an amortized cost technique and are classified as Level 2.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently
or not at all. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 3 investments at March 19, 2021.

The following table presents the investments of the Series Trust measured at fair value within the fair
valuation hierarchy as of March 19, 2021:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TRY TRY TRY TRY
Assets
Debt securities - 521,179,703 - 521,179,703
Receivables from repurchase
agreements - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000
- 999,179,703 - 999,179,703

All securities are classified as Level 2. There were no transfers of assets between levels during the
year.

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of a security from a counterparty, with an obligation of
the Series Trust to resell the security to the counterparty at a contracted price on maturity. In
connection with its repurchase agreements, it is the Series Trust’s policy that its Custodian, acting on
behalf of the Series Trust, take possession of the underlying collateral securities, the fair value of
which, at all times, to be least 110% of the principal amount of the repurchase agreements, including
accrued interest. If the counterparty defaults under repurchase agreements, and the fair value of the
collateral declines, the realization of the collateral by the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

At March 19, 2021, the Series Trust received collateral consisting of government bonds, with a fair
value of TRY531,700,828 for its repurchase agreements. The Series Trust is not permitted to sell or
repledge collateral received in connection with its repurchase agreements.
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4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks

The main risks arising from the Series Trust’s financial instruments can be summarized as follows:

Market Risk

The Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 19, 2021, includes the fair value of debt securities
and contractual commitment arising from repurchase agreements owned by the Series Trust. These
investments involve exposure to market risk.

The value of the Series Trust’s financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices caused by factors other than interest rates or foreign currency movement.

During the year, a viral Covid-19 pandemic has spread across the globe. It is causing very significant
financial market, economic and social dislocation globally, including very significant disruption to
business and economic activity. The economic disruption may significantly reduce the value of many
financial instruments including those held by the Series Trust. The ultimate extent of the effect of this
on the Series Trust is not possible to estimate at this time and will only be finally determined on
realization of investments.

Interest Rate Risk

Increases in interest rates typically lower the present value of the Series Trust’s future earnings stream.
Since the market price of a security changes continuously based upon the investors’ collective
perceptions of future earnings, security prices will generally decline when investors anticipate or
experience rising interest rates.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Series Trust may not be able to rapidly adjust the size
of its investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable price.

The main liability of the Series Trust is the redemption of any Units that investors may wish to sell.
The Series Trust is exposed to daily cash redemptions of Redeemable Participating Units.

The liquidity of the Series Trust is a factor of the liquidity of the underlying investments. The Series
Trust’s assets mainly consist of readily realizable securities. In the opinion of the Manager this should
enable the payment of the Series Trust’s liabilities and any Unitholder’s redemption of Redeemable
Participating Units.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the majority of assets of the Series Trust held at March 19,
2021, can be liquidated within one month in normal circumstances.

Currency Risk
Since all of the investments and cash and cash equivalents of the Series Trust are denominated in the

functional currency of the Series Trust, the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of
Operations will not be affected by currency movements and as a result, a sensitivity analysis has not
been performed.
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4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured by the loss the Series Trust would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Series Trust. The Trust will be exposed to credit risk on
parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement default. In particular, the Series
Trust is exposed to credit risk with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH & Co.”) (the “Sub-
Custodian™), which has a Fitch credit rating of A+ and Akbank Malta (Note 6) which has a Fitch credit
rating of A+.

The Series Trust invests in debt securities. Adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuer, or
in general economic conditions, or both, or an unanticipated rise in interest rates, may impair the
ability of the issuer to make payments of interest and principal. The inability of issuers to make timely
payments of interest and principal may affect the value of securities held for the account of the Series
Trust. In the absence of a liquid trading market for certain securities it may not be possible to establish
the fair value of such securities in accordance with the valuation methodology of the Series Trust.
Furthermore, the credit risk of making such investments in emerging economies, generally tends to be
greater when compared to investing in developed countries.

As at March 19, 2021, the Series Trust invested in debt securities with the following credit quality:

Credit Rating

TRY %
(TR) A+* 123,721,260 23.74
(TR) AA* 27,049,757 5.19
(TR) AA+* 248,586,342 47.70
(TR) AAA* 121,822,344 23.37
Total 521,179,703 100.00

* National long term rating (Fitch, S&P and Saha)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions may include risks associated with the difference
between the valuations of the legs of such repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions. The price of
the collateral received or lent in such a transaction may adversely affect the Series Trust. In the event
of the failure of the relevant counterparty, inaccurate pricing, illiquidity of the relevant market in
which the collateral is traded and market movements may materially and adversely affect the
investment performance of the Series Trust. These effects may include, but are not limited to, a sudden
decrease in the NAV, delays in recovering cash, difficulties in realizing collateral and there may be
additional risks related to these effects.

The Trustee has appointed the Custodian, whose ultimate parent Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc
has a JCR credit rating of AA-. The Custodian has in turn appointed the Sub-Custodian. Both the cash
& securities are ultimately held at the Sub-Custodian, with cash being held at the Sub-Custodian as
banker. The Series Trust’s securities are maintained by the Sub-Custodian in segregated accounts, thus
in the event of insolvency or bankruptey of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust’s assets are segregated.
The Series Trust will, however, be exposed to the credit risk of the Sub-Custodian, or any depository
used by the Custodian or Sub-Custodian, in relation to the Series Trust’s cash. In the event of
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust will be treated as a general creditor of
the Sub-Custodian in relation to cash holdings of the Series Trust.

19

94/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573

Ooooooooooooooooooad
Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2021
(Continued)

4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

An investment universe which lists all the ratings of eligible securities that the Series Trust has traded
in is maintained, and monitored daily to record rating changes by Fitch. Any rating changes are
reported to the Investment Manager.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian may cause the Series Trust rights with respect to its
investments in debt securities held by the bank to be delayed or limited.

5. Unit Capital

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem Units, the capital of the Series Trust can vary depending
on the demand for subscriptions and redemptions to/from the Series Trust. The minimum amount of
subscriptions or redemptions per Unitholder is one Unit and thereafter in one Unit increments.

Units are redeemable on each business day subject to the submission of a repurchase notice by no later
than 8am (Dublin time) on the relevant business day or such other deadline as the Investment Manager
may determine at the NAV per unit prevailing at the close of business on the preceding valuation day,
failing which the repurchase request will be held over until the following dealing day and Units will be
redeemed at the repurchase price applicable for that dealing day.

The movements in the number of Units issued during the year ended March 19, 2021 are as follows:

Number of Units
Number of Units outstanding as at beginning of year 76,481,154,853
Number of Units issued 108,828.823,019
Number of Units redeemed (98,237,882,938)
Number of Units outstanding as at end of year 87,072,094,934

During the year ended March 19, 2021 distributions of TRY73,165,630 were declared of which
TRY 53,058,574 was reinvested back into the Series Trust.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at March 19, 2021, is comprized of cash held with the Sub-Custodian and
deposits with maturities of 3 months or less held with Akbank Malta are as follows:

TRY
Cash - BBH & Co. 3,747,036
Deposit - Akbank Malta 103,759,002
Total 107,506,038
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(Continued)
7. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In the opinion of
the Manager there were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager, Trustee and Akbank T.A.S.
which is the counterparty to the repurchase agreements and deposits and holds 45,403,343 Units in the
Series Trust, are deemed to be related to the Series Trust. The Series Trust has deposits of
TRY103,759,002 with Akbank Malta (Note 6). Fees incurred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and in Note 8. Amounts payable to related parties at the year
end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and in Note 8.

Two other investors hold an investment of 19.85%, and 11.38% respectively in the Series Trust. As a
result, any actions of these related parties can materially impact the Series Trust.

8. Fees and Expenses

The Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.025% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY40,000 per calendar year.

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.04% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY43,000 per calendar year.

The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.30% per
annum of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen
monthly in arrears.

The Sub-Investment Manager receives a fee at the rate of 0.55% per annum of the NAV, accrued on and
calculated as at each valuation day and payable in TRY monthly in arrears.

The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.08% per annum of
the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY8,900 per month. The Administrator will also be paid an audit
assistance fee of an amount equivalent in Euro to TRY$,900. In addition, the Administrator will also be
paid a fee of TRY270 in respect of each new Unitholder and a fee of TRY45 for each update of the
Register that it is required to undertake. The Administrator is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of its duties.

The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.12% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee in US Dollars of an amount equivalent to TRY2,100 per month. The
Custodian is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the
performance of its duties.
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8. Fees and Expenses (continued)

The distributors receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.35% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly in
arrears. As at year end, there were 28 distributors to the Series Trust.

The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.10% per annum
of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly

in arrears.

The fees payable as at March 19, 2021 are as follows:

TRY

Investment Manager fees 152,183
Sub-Investment Manager fees 279,002
Manager fees 12,682
Administration fees 67,666
Custodian fees 474,241
Trustee fees 20,291
Distributors and Agent Company fees 226,879
Audit fees 188,499
Other fees and expenses 361,034
1,782,477

9. Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of securities by the Series Trust with an agreement by the
Series Trust to resell the securities at an agreed upon price, date and interest payment. Repurchase
agreements involve the credit risk that the counterparty to the repurchase agreement may default. As at
March 19, 2021, securities purchased under agreements to resell amounting to TRY478,000,000 are
collateralized principally by government bonds and Turkish agency bonds.

The Series Trust monitors collateral market values relative to the amounts due under the agreements,
including accrued interest, throughout the lives of the agreements, and when necessary, requires
transfer of cash or securities in order to manage exposure and liquidity. In connection with such
agreements, if the counterparty defaults or enters an insolvency proceeding, realization or return of the
collateral to the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.

As at March 19, 2021, the securities purchased under agreements to resell mature on or before March
22, 2021 and the interest applicable is 16.26%.
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10. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

As of March 19, 2021, the Series Trust holds repurchase agreements that are eligible for offset in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The repurchase arrangement allows the Series Trust to net any
receivables against collateral held.

The table below provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognized assets
presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Changes in Net Assets:

Related amounts not offset in the

2021 Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Gross Net Amounts
Amounts of Recognized

Gross Offset in the Assets
Amounts  Statement Presented in
of of Assets the Statement Financial
Recognized and of Assets and Financial Collateral Net
Description Assets  Liabilities Liabilities Instruments  Received (a) amount
TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY
Receivables
from
Repurchase
Agreements 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 =
478,000,000 - 478,000,000 - 478,000,000 -

(a) Amounts related to master netting agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Series
Trust to be legally enforceable in the event of any default, but certain other criteria are not met in
accordance with applicable offsetting accounting guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the
related net amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,
if this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to net amounts of financial assets and liabilities
with that counterparty.

As at March 19, 2021, there are no recognized liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities that are subject to offsetting.

11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAV to NAV per Financial Statements

2021

TRY
Reported NAV 866,556,944
Trade date adjustment 4,164,029
NAV attributable to Holders of Units per Financial Statements 870,720,973
Number of Units per Reported NAV 86,655,691,956
Trade date adjustment 416,402,978
Number of Units per Financial Statements 87,072,094,934
Reported NAV per Unit 0.01
NAYV per Unit per Financial Statements 0.01
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11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAV to NAV per Financial Statements (continued)

For Unitholder dealing purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date plus 1 business day
basis. For financial reporting purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Transactions
oceurring between close of business on the last trade date and the financial reporting year end date have
required an adjustment of TRY4,164,029.

12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has performed a subsequent review from March 19, 2021 through to September 2, 2021
being the date that the financial statements were available to be issued. From March 19, 2021 through to
September 2, 2021 investors subscribed TRY313,974,037 into the Series Trust and redeemed
TRY262,344,683 capital from the Series Trust.

The Manager concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional disclosure
in these financial statements.
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Debt Securities

Turkey

Ak Yatirim Menkul Deg As 0% 03-Jun-21
Akbank Tas 0% 19-Apr-21

Akbank Tas 0% 01-Jun-21

IS Finansal Kiralama As 0% 28-Apr-21

IS Yatirim Menkul Degerl 0% 31-Mar-21
Qnb Finansbank As Turkey 0% 30-Jul-21
Turkey Ekonomi Bankasi 9.43% 07-Jun-21
Turkey Government Bond 0% 14-Apr-21
Turkey Government Bond 9.2% 22-Sep-21

Investments in Debt Securities, at fair value
Receivable from Repurchase Agreements

Malta

TRT230222T13 22-Mar-21 16.26% AKM
TRT230222T13 23-Mar-21 16.42% AKM

Total Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Deposits (less than 3 months)

Malta
FDTRY Akbank Malta 16.50% 7-Apr-21

Total Deposits (less than 3 months)
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Fair
Cost Value % of
TRY TRY NAVY
57,551,400 57,921,537 6.65
77,146,400 78,948,674 9.07
1,866,024 1,954,047 0.22
41,830,699 42.818,539 492
62,554,841 63,900,807 7.34
23,047,750 23,549,757 2.70
3,500,000 3,500,000 0.40
47,515,465 49,570,343 5.69
197,881,772 199,015,999 22.87
512,894,351 521,179,703 59.86
237,000,000 237,000,000 27,22
241,000,000 241,000,000 27.68
478,000,000 478,000,000 54.90
103,759,002 103,759,002 11.92
103,759,002 103,759,002 11.92
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(2 2020 19
2020 19
2020
461,158,126 3 468,450,788 5,925,902,468
6 83,454,894 1,055,704,409
9 10 433,000,000 5,477,450,000
10,478,357 132,551,216
1,213,943 15,356,379
996,597,982 12,606,964,472
217,000,000 2,745,050,000
9,623,384 121,735,808
3,973,926 50,270,164
8 1,189,092 15,042,014
231,786,402 2,932,097,985
11 764,811,580 9,674,866,487
76,481,154,853
5 11 0.01 0.13
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- 2020

2020 19

2020
54,962,990 695,281,824
51,526,034 651,804,330
106,489,024 1,347,086,154
4,081 51,625
7 8 1,944,644 24,599,747
7 8 3,565,181 45,099,540
7 8 162,054 2,049,983
8 711,686 9,002,828
8 777,858 9,839,904
7 8 259,286 3,279,968
8 2,915,625 36,882,656
130,646 1,652,672
876,946 11,093,367
11,348,007 143,552,289
95,141,017 1,203,533,865
39,255 496,576

95,180,272 1,204,030,441
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470,023,300

95,180,272
(95,104,301)
767,457,104

(472,744,795)
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5,945,794,745

1,204,030,441

(1,203,069,408)
9,708,332,366

(5,980,221,657)

764,811,580

9,674,866,487

2020 19

95,180,272

(2,052,672,398)
(12,585,500,000)
1,943,493,403
12,424,000, 000
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1,204,030,441

(25,966,305, 835)
(159,206,575,000)
24,585,191,548
157,163,600,000
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(39,255)
3,879,313
286,567

O000oOoOddooooooooOoOaOon
(496,576)

49,073,309
3,625,073

(171,372,008)

(2,167,857,040)

5 684,947,745
5 (464,545,314)
5 (21,477,682)

8,664,588,974
(5,876,498,222)
(271,692,677)

198,924,749

2,516,398,075

27,552,651
55,902,243

348,541,035
707,163,374

83,454,894

1,055,704,409

58,842,303
(4,081)

2020 19

0.01

744,355,133
(51,625)

2020

0.13

0.0015

0.02
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0.0015 0.02
(0.0015) (0.02)
0.01 0.13

(1.74)

14.62

13.04

2020 19
2013 10
2013 18

2013 24
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2016 11 2016-18 Topic230
2018 12 15
2019 20 2016-18
2020 19
2020 19
2020 18
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2020 19

(2011 ) 50

740
740

740
50

50

50

50

12

2020 19
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2020 19

468,450,788

433,000,000

433,000,000

901,450,788

901,450,788

110

19
481,000,000

2020

19

19
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2020 19
+ 39,468,817 8.43
* 183,925,069 39.26
* 245,056,902 52.31

468,450,788 100.00

2020 19
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2020 19

47,009,923,913
76,745,710,420
(47,274,479, 480)

76,481,154,853

2020 19 95,104,301
74,579,528

2020 19

2020 19

- 3,454,894
- 80,000,000

83,454,894

41,593,126

80,000,000
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0.025

40,000

0.04

43,000

0.30

0.55

2020 19

0.08
8,900

8,900
270

0.12

2,100

0.35

27

0.10

2020 19
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14.25

45

136,221
249,738
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11,352
59,161
199,479
18,163
203,995
130,646
180,337
1,189,092

2020 19

2020 19
433,000,000
2020 19 2020 24
9.00 10.19
2020 19
2020
@
433,000,000 - 433,000,000 - (433,000,000) -

433,000,000 - 433,000,000 - (433,000,000) -
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2020 19

2020 19

11
2020

763,956,608
854,972

(543,418)
543,418
764,811,580

76,395,657,579

85,497,274

76,481,154,853

1 0.01
1 0.01

543,418

854,972

12
2020
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2020 19 2020
2020
329,998,774 394,498,119
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

As at March 19, 2020
2020

Note TRY
Assets
Investment in debt securities, at fair value
(Cost: TRY461,158,126) 3 468,450,788
Cash and cash equivalents 6 83,454,894
Receivables from repurchase agreements 9,10 433,000,000
Subscriptions receivable 10,478,357
Interest receivable 1.213.943
Total Assets 096,597,982
Liabilities
Payable for investments purchased 217,000,000
Redemptions payable 9,623,384
Distributions payable 3,973,926
Other payables 8 1,189,092
Total Liabilities 231,786,402
Net Assets 1 764,811,580
Net Asset Value (“NAV") per Unit
(based on 76,481,154,853 units outstanding) 5,11 TRY0.01

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustee:

ﬂJM é;@a R Cuttily

Date: 03" September 2020

119/235



Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

EDINETOOOO

o = 2573

Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 19, 2020

Investment income
Interest income
Accretion of acquisition discount

Expenses

Interest expense

Investment Manager fees
Sub-Investment Manager fees
Manager fees

Administration fees
Custodian fees

Trustee fees

Distributors and Agent Company fees
Audit fees

Other fees and expenses

Net investment income

Net realized gain on investments

Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Note

7.8
7.8
7.8

7.8

Oooooooooooooooooad

2020
TRY

54,962,990

51.526.034

106,489,024

4,081
1.944.644
3,565,181
162,054
711,686
777,858
259,286
2,915,625
130,646

376,946

11,348,007

95,141,017

39,255

95,180,272

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 19, 2020

2020

TRY

Net Assets at beginning of year 470,023,300
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 95,180,272
Distributions to Unitholders (95,104,301
Units issued 767,457,104
Units redeemed (472,744,795)
Net Assets at end of year 764,311:580

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 19, 2020

2020

Note TRY
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 95,180.272
Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets
resulting from operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Payments for purchase of debt securities (2.052,672,398)
Payments for purchase of repurchase agreements (12.585.500,000)
Proceeds from sale of debt securities 1,943.493,403
Proceeds from settlement of repurchase agreements 12,424.,000,000
WNet realized gain on investments (39,255)
Decrease in interest receivable 3,879,313
Increase in other payables 286.567
Net cash used in operating activities (171,372,098)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Units 5 684,947,745
Payments for redemption of Units 5 (464,545,314)
Distributions 5 (21,477.682)
Net cash provided by financing activities 198,924,749
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,552,651
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 55,902,243
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 83,454,894
Supplementary information:
Interest received 58,842,303
Interest paid (4.081)

The accompanying notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Financial Highlights
For the year ended March 19, 2020

-2020
TRY
Per Unit operating performance:
NAYV per Unit, beginning of year 0.0l
Income from investment operations (B)
Net investment income 0.0015
Net realized and change in unrealized gain _ -
Total income from investment operations 0.0015
Less distributions (0.0015)
NAY per Unit, end of year 0.01
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of total expenses to average Net Assets (A) (1.74)%
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 14.62%
Total Return (A) 13.04%

(A) Total return is calculated based on the change in NAV during the year. This return includes the
return associated with the distributed amount. Expense ratios and net investment income ratio are
calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the year. The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results vary based upon participation in certain investments, fee arrangements and timing of
capital transactions. Per Unit information is calculated based upon the monthly average Units
outstanding during the year.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2020

1. Description of the Trust

Turkish Lira Money Market Fund (the “Series Trust™) is a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund (the
“Trust™). The Trust is an open-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a master trust deed dated June
10, 2013 and made between the Trustee and the Manager. The Trust has been constituted as an
umbrella unit trust under the Trusts Law of the Cayman Islands and registered under the Mutual Funds
Law of the Cayman Islands on June 18, 2013. A separate portfolio or series trust can be created and
established to which assets and liabilities attributable to the relevant series trust will be applied. The
Master Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Cayman [slands.

As at March 19, 2020 there were two series trusts of the Trust, UBP African Equity Fund and the
Series Trust. The Series Trust commenced operations on September 24, 2013. These financial
statements comprise only the accounts of the Series Trust.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to preserve principal value and maintain a high degree
of liquidity while providing current income by investing in Turkish Lira denominated short term
financial instruments, including but not limited to government bonds, corporate bonds. certificates of
deposit, asset backed securities, bank deposits and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements.

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager™) is the Manager, Sompo Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (formerly Sompo Japan Nipponkoa Asset Management Co., Ltd.) (the “Investment
Manager”) is the Investment Manager, Ak Portfdy Yonetimi A.$. (the “Sub-Investment Manager™) is
the Sub-Investment Manager and Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) (formerly
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited) (the “*Custodian”) is the Custodian. The administration of the
Series Trust is delegated to SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator™).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are prepared in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principals
(*US GAAP™). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the
Manager to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Lira (“TRY?), which is the Series Trust's
functional currency.

The Series Trust is considered an investment company under US GAAP and follows the accounting
and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies in the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 946, Financial Services - Investment
Companies (“ASC 946™).

The Series Trust possesses the fundamental characteristics of an investment company and all typical
characteristics of an investment company.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager. the Series Trust possesses the fundamental characteristics of
an investment company because the following conditions exist:

i. The Series Trust obtains funds from investors and provides those investors with investment
management services.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ii. The business purpose and only substantive activities, which were communicated to investors, are
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income.

iii. The Series Trust has identified exit strategies for the investments it holds for returns from capital
appreciation.

iv. The Series Trust does not have an objective of obtaining results or benefits other than capital
appreciation and investment income from its investments.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the Series Trust also possesses the typical characteristics of an
investment company:

i. The Series Trust holds more than one investment.

ii. The Series Trust is funded by multiple investors.

iii. The Series Trust has investors that hold a significant interest in the Series Trust and are not related to
the Investment Manager.

iv. Ownership in the Series Trust is represented by equity interests acquired through capital contributions.

v. The Series Trust manages and evaluates performance of investments on a fair value basis.

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Series Trust are as follows:

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18. Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted
Cash. The new guidance is intended to change the presentation of restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents on the Statement of Cash Flows. As a result. entities will no longer present transfers between
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the Statements of Cash
Flows. When cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents are presented
in more than one line item on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities, the new guidance requires a
reconciliation of the totals in the Statement of Cash Flows to the related captions in the Statement of
Assets and Liabilities. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018
and should be applied using a retrospective transition method to each period presented. The Series Trust
has adopted ASU 2016-18 as of March 20, 2019. however there was no material impact on the Series
Trust’s financial statements as the Series Trust does not hold restricted cash.

Valuation of investments

Investments consist of corporate bonds. government bonds, deposits and repurchase agreements. Debt
securities such as corporate bonds and government bonds with a remaining maturity of less than one year
are valued at fair value using an amortized cost technique (i.e. at their acquisition cost as adjusted for the
amortization of premium or accretion of discount) as the best estimate of fair value. The Manager,
through its delegates, continuously reviews the amortized cost method to ensure that investments are
stated at their fair market value. When the Series Trust purchases a financial asset and simultaneously
enters into an agreement to resell the asset at a fixed price on a future date (“repurchase agreement™), the
arrangement is accounted for as a receivable (“receivables from repurchase agreements”), and the
underlying asset is not recognized on the Series Trust’s financial statements.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Valuation of investments (continued)

When the Series Trust sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the same asset at a fixed price on a future date, the agreement is accounted for as borrowings (“payables
under repurchase agreements”), and the underlying asset is not derecognized in the Series Trust's
financial statements. Receivables and payables from repurchase agreements are initially measured at fair
value less incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method.

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. At year end, all investments are valued as
at March 18, 2020, due to March 19, 2020 being a non-business day in accordance with the Series Trust’s
Offering Memorandum.

Realized gains and losses and movements in unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Statement
of Operations and determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Movements in fair value are recorded in the
Statement of Operations at each valuation date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes highly liquid investments, such as money market funds, that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days from the date of purchase. All cash balances
are held at major banking and broker institutions.

Cash and other liquid assets are valued at their face value with coupon interest receivable accrued, where
applicable, to the end of the relevant day.

The Series Trust does not hold any restricted cash at the year end or during the year.

Investment Income
Interest income is accounted for on an effective yield basis. Discounts and premiums on securities are
amortized and accreted on the effective yield basis over the life of the respective securities.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

Foreign Exchange Transactions

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rates of exchange on
March 18, 2020, due to March 19, 2020 being a non-business day, with foreign currency gains and losses
reflected in the Statement of Operations. Purchases and sales of securities and income and expenses are
translated at the prevailing rate of exchange on the respective dates of such transactions. Unrealized gains
and losses are calculated by comparing the fair value of the investments to the prices at which those assets
were originally purchased.

The Series Trust does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foreign
exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in the market prices of

securities. Such fluctuations are included in net realized gain on investments in the Statement of
Operations.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2020

{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Transactions involving repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and
are recorded at their contracted resell amounts. Interest on transactions is included in interest
receivable.

Offsetting assets and liabilities

The Series Trust is required to disclose the impact of offsetting assets and liabilities represented in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting arrangements on its financial position for recognized assets and liabilities.
These recognized assets and liabilities are financial instruments and derivative instruments that are
either subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement or meet the following
right of set-off criteria: the amounts owed by the Series Trust to another party are determinable, the
Series Trust has the right to set-off the amounts owed with the amounts owed by the other party, the
Series Trust intends to set-off. and the Series Trust’s right of set-off is enforceable at law.

Use of Estimates

Preparing financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, including fair value of
investments set out in Note 3. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Taxation

The Series Trust is a Cayman Islands exempted Trust. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands,
there are no income, estate, transfer, sale or other taxes payable by the Series Trust. The Series Trust
trades stocks and securities for its own account and. as such, is generally not subject to U.S. tax on
such earnings (other than certain withholding taxes indicated below). The Investment Manager intends
to conduct the business of the Series Trust to the maximum extent practicable so that the Series Trust’s
activities do not constitute a U.S. trade or business. Interest and other income realized by the Series
Trust from non-U.S. sources and capital gains realized on the sale of securities of non-U.S. issuers may
be subject to withholding and other taxes levied by the jurisdiction in which the income is sourced. In
accordance with the Trusts Law (2011 Revision). the Trust has received an undertaking exempting it
from all local taxes for a period of 50 years from the date of creation of the Trust.

Accounting Standard Codification (*ASC™) 740, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”,
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the Series Trust’s financial
statements. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
ASC 740 requires that the enterprise determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position
will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes,
based on the technical merits of the position. In evaluating whether a tax position has met the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold, the enterprise should presume that the position will be examined
by the appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position
that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of
benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The Investment Manager has analysed the Series Trust’s tax positions and has concluded that no
liability for unrecognized tax benefits should be recorded related to uncertain tax positions.
Furthermore, the Investment Manager is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably
possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next
twelve months.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Series Trust enters into contracts that contain a variety of
representations, which provide general indemnifications. The Series Trust's maximum exposure under
these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the
Series Trust that have not yet occurred. However, based on experience. the Series Trust expects the
risk of loss to be remote.

Distributions

The Manager, through its delegates, declares distributions on each dealing day. The amount per Unit
distributed is a sum equal to the amount required to maintain the relevant NAV per Unit on each
dealing day at TRY0.01.

Classification of Redemptions

ASC 480, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount requested in the redemption notice
becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a
fiscal year, depending on the nature of the request. As a result, redemptions paid after the end of the
year, but based upon year end capital balance are reflected as redemptions payable at March 19, 2020.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e.. the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.

A fair value hierarchy of inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be
used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Series Trust.
Unobservable inputs reflect the Series Trust’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would

use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

- Level | — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Series Trust has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — [nputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 = Inputs that are unobservable.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2020

(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A financial
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Manager considers observable data to be that market
data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. The
categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of
the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Manager’s perceived risk of that instrument.

[nvestments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within
Level 1. The Series Trust did not hold any Level | investments at March 19, 2020.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are
classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active
markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions. valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity
and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information. Debt securities
are valued using an amortized cost technique and are classified as Level 2.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs. as they trade infrequently
or not at all. The Series Trust did not hold any Level 3 investments at March 19, 2020.

The following table presents the investments of the Series Trust measured at fair value within the fair
valuation hierarchy as of March 19, 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TRY TRY TRY TRY
Assets
Debt securities - 468,450.788 - 468.450,788
Receivables from repurchase
agreements - 433,000,000 - 433,000,000
- 901,450,788 - 901,450,788

All securities are classified as Level 2. There were no transfers of assets between levels during the
year.

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of a security from a counterparty, with an obligation of
the Series Trust to resell the security to the counterparty at a contracted price on maturity. In
connection with its repurchase agreements. it is the Series Trust’s policy that its Custodian, acting on
behalf of the Series Trust, take possession of the underlying collateral securities, the fair value of
which, at all times. to be least 110% of the principal amount of the repurchase agreements, including
accrued interest. If the counterparty defaults under repurchase agreements, and the fair value of the
collateral declines. the realization of the collateral by the Series Trust may be delayed or limited.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements (continued)

At March 19, 2020, the Series Trust received collateral consisting of government bonds, with a fair
value of TRY481,000,000 for its repurchase agreements. The Series Trust is not permitted to sell or
repledge collateral received in connection with its repurchase agreements.

4. Financial Instruments and Related Risks

The main risks arising from the Series Trust’s financial instruments can be summarized as follows:

Market Risk

The Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 19. 2020, includes the fair value of debt securities
and contractual commitment arising from repurchase agreements owned by the Series Trust. These
investments involve exposure to market risk.

The value of the Series Trust's financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices caused by factors other than interest rates or foreign currency movement.

Interest Rate Risk

Increases in interest rates typically lower the present value of the Series Trust’s future earnings stream.
Since the market price of a security changes continuously based upon the investors’ collective
perceptions of future earnings, security prices will generally decline when investors anticipate or
experience rising interest rates.

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Series Trust may not be able to rapidly adjust the size
of its investment position in times of high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable price.

The main liability of the Series Trust is the redemption of any Units that investors may wish to sell.
The Series Trust is exposed to daily cash redemptions of Redeemable Participating Units.

The liquidity of the Series Trust is a factor of the liquidity of the underlying investments. The Series
Trust's assets mainly consist of readily realizable securities. In the opinion of the Manager this should
enable the payment of the Series Trust's liabilities and any Unitholder’s redemption of Redeemable
Participating Units.

In the opinion of the Investment Manager, the majority of assets of the Series Trust held at March 19,
2020, can be liquidated within one month in normal circumstances.

Currency Risk

Since all of the investments and cash and cash equivalents of the Series Trust are denominated in the
base currency of the Series Trust, the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Operations
will not be affected by currency movements and as a result, a sensitivity analysis has not been
performed.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured by the loss the Series Trust would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Series Trust. The Trust will be exposed to credit risk on
parties with whom it trades and will also bear the risk of settlement default. In particular, the Series
Trust is exposed to credit risk with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. ("BBH & Co.”) (“the Sub-
Custodian”™), which has a Fitch credit rating of A+ and Akbank Malta (Note 6) which has a Fitch credit
rating of A+.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

4, Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

The Series Trust invests in debt securities. Adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuer. or
in general economic conditions, or both, or an unanticipated rise in interest rates, may impair the
ability of the issuer to make payments of interest and principal. The inability of issuers to make timely
payments of interest and principal may affect the value of securities held for the account of the Series
Trust. In the absence of a liquid trading market for certain securities it may not be possible to establish
the fair value of such securities in accordance with the valuation methodology of the Series Trust.
Furthermore. the credit risk of making such investments in emerging economies. generally tends to be
greater when compared to investing in developed countries.

As at March 19. 2020. the Series Trust invested in debt securities with the following credit quality:

Credit Rating

TRY %
A+t 39.468.817 8.43
AA¥* 183,925,069 39.26
BB-* 245,056,902 5231
Total 468,450,788 100.00

* National long term rating

Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions may include risks associated with the difference
between the valuations of the legs of such repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions. The price of
the collateral received or lent in such a transaction may adversely affect the Series Trust. In the event
of the failure of the relevant counterparty, inaccurate pricing, illiquidity of the relevant market in
which the collateral is traded and market movements may materially and adversely affect the
investment performance of the Series Trust, These effects may include, but are not limited to, a
sudden decrease in the NAV, delays in recovering cash, difficulties in realizing collateral and there
may be additional risks related to these effects.

The Trustee has appointed the Custedian, whose ultimate parent Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings,
Inc has a JCR credit rating of AA-. The Custodian has in turn appointed the Sub-Custodian. Both the
cash & securities are ultimately held at the Sub-Custodian, with cash being held at the Sub-Custodian
as Banker.

The Series Trust’s securities are maintained by the Sub-Custodian in segregated accounts. thus in the
event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Sub-Custodian, the Series Trust’s assets are segregated. The
Series Trust will, however, be exposed to the credit risk of the Sub-Custodian. or any depository used
by the Custodian or Sub-Custodian. in relation to the Series Trust’s cash. In the event of insolvency
or bankruptcy of the Sub-Custodian. the Series Trust will be treated as a general creditor of the Sub-
Custodian in relation to cash holdings of the Series Trust.

An investment universe which lists all the ratings of eligible securities that the Series Trust has traded
in is maintained, and monitored daily to record rating changes by Fitch. Any rating changes are
reported 1o the Investment Manager,

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian may cause the Series Trust rights with respect to its
investments in debt securities held by the bank to be delayed or limited.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

5. Unit Capital

6

As a result of the ability to issue and redeem Units, the capital of the Series Trust can vary depending on
the demand for subscriptions and redemptions to/from the Series Trust. The minimum amount of
subscriptions or redemptions per Unitholder is one Unit and thereafter in one Unit increments.

Units are redeemable on each business day subject to the submission of a repurchase notice by no later
than 8am (Dublin time) on the relevant business day or such other deadline as the Investment Manager
may determine at the NAV per unit prevailing at the close of business on the preceding valuation day,
failing which the repurchase request will be held over until the following dealing day and Units will be
redeemed at the repurchase price applicable for that dealing day.

The movements in the number of Units issued during the year ended March 19, 2020 are as follows:

Number of Units
Number of Units outstanding as at beginning of year 47,009,923,913
Number of Units issued 76,745,710,420
Number of Units redeemed (47.274,479.480)
Number of Units outstanding as at end of year 76,481,154,853

During the year ended March 19, 2020 distributions of TRY95,104,301 were paid of which
TRY74,579.528 was reinvested back into the Series Trust.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at March 19, 2020, is comprised of cash at hand held with the Sub-Custodian
and deposits with maturities of 3 months or less held with Akbank Malta are as follows:

TRY
Cash at hand - BBH & Co. 3,454,894
Deposit - Akbank Malta 80,000,000
Total 83,454,894

. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In the opinion of
the Manager there were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager, Trustee and Akbank T.A.S.
which is the counterparty to the repurchase agreements and deposits and holds 41,593,126 Units in the
Series Trust, are deemed to be related to the Series Trust. The Series Trust has deposits of
TRYS80.000.000 with Akbank Malta (Note 6). Fees incurred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations and in Note 8. Amounts payable to related parties at the year
end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and in Note 8.

Two investors hold an investment of 29.58% and 14.25% respectively in the Series Trust. As a result,
any actions of these related parties can materially impact the Series Trust.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 19, 2020

(Continued)

8. Fees and Expenses

The Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.025% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY40,000 per calendar year.

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.04% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY43,000 per calendar year.

The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.30% per
annum of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen
monthly in arrears.

The Sub-Investment Manager receives a fee at the rate of 0.55% per annum of the NAV, accrued on and
calculated as at each valuation day and payable in TRY monthly in arrears.

The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.08%% per annum of
the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Euro monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee of TRY8,900 per month. The Administrator will also be paid an audit
assistance fee of an amount equivalent in Euro to TRY8,900. In addition. the Administrator will also be
paid a fee of TRY270 in respect of each new Unitholder and a fee of TRY45 for each update of the
Register that it is required to undertake. The Administrator is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the performance of its duties.

The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.12% per annum of the
NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in US Dollars monthly in arrears,
subject to a minimum fee in US Dollars of an amount equivalent to TRY2,100 per month. The
Custodian is also reimbursed for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses necessarily incurred in the
performance of its duties.

The distributors receive out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.35% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly in
arrears. As at year end, there were 27 distributors to the Series Trust.

The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Series Trust a fee at the rate of 0.10% per annum
of the NAV, accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day and payable in Japanese Yen monthly in
arrears.

The fees payable as at March 19, 2020 are as follows:

TRY

Investment Manager fees 136,221
Sub-Investment Manager fees 249,738
Manager fees 11.352
Administration fees 59,161
Custodian fees 199,479
Trustee fees 18,163
Distributors and Agent Company fees 203,995
Audit fees 130,646
Other fees and expenses 180,337
1,189,092
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

9. Receivables from Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase agreements involve the purchase of securities by the Series Trust with an agreement by the
Series Trust to resell the securities at an agreed upon price, date and interest payment. Repurchase
agreements involve the credit risk that the counterparty to the repurchase agreement may default. As at
March 19, 2020, securities purchased under agreements to resell amounting to TRY433,000,000 are
collateralized principally by government bonds and Turkish agency bonds.

The Series Trust monitors collateral market values relative to the amounts due under the agreements.
including accrued interest, throughout the lives of the agreements, and when necessary, requires transfer
of cash or securities in order to manage exposure and liquidity. In connection with such agreements, if
the counterparty defaults or enters an insolvency proceeding, realization or return of the collateral to the
Series Trust may be delayed or limited,

As at March 19, 2020, the securities purchased under agreements to resell mature on or before March
24, 2020 and the interest applicable is 9.00% and 10.19%.

10. Offsetting assets and liabilities

As of March 19. 2020, the Series Trust helds repurchase agreements that are eligible for offset in the
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The repurchase arrangement allows the Series Trust to net any
receivables against collateral held,

The table below provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of offsetting of recognized assets
presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Changes in Net Assets:

Related amounts not offset in the

2020 Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Gross Net Amounts
Amounts of Recognized

Gross Offset in the Assets
Amounts  Statement Presented in
of of Assets the Statement Financial
Recognized and of Assets and Financial Collateral Net
Description Assets  Liabilities Liabilities Instruments  Received (a) amount
TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY TRY
Receivables
from
Repurchase
Agreements 433,000,000 - 433,000,000 - (433.000.000) .
433,000,000 - 433,000,000 - (433,000,000) )

(a) Amounts related to master netting agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Series
Trust to be legally enforceable in the event of any default, but certain other criteria are not met in
accordance with applicable offsetting accounting guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the
related net amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities,
if this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to net amounts of financial assets and liabilities
with that counterparty.

As at March 19, 2020, there are no recognized liabilities presented in the Statement of Assels and
Liabilities that are subject to offsetting.
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Turkish Lira Money Market Fund

Notes to the Financial Statements

March 19, 2020
(Continued)

11. Reconciliation of the Dealing NAY to NAV per Financial Statements

12.

2020

TRY
Reported NAV 763,956,608
Trade date adjustment 854,972
Establishment costs written off (543.418)
Establishment costs amortized in reported NAV 543,418
NAY attributable to Holders of Units per Financial Statements 764,811,580
Number of Units per Reported NAV 76,395,657,579
Trade date adjustment 85,497,274
Number of Units per Financial Statements 76,481,154,853
Reported NAV per Unit 0.01
NAYV per Unit per Financial Statements 0.01

The establishment costs, estimated at TRY 543,418 were fully charged in the Statement of Operations in
the period in which they were incurred. For the purpose of calculating the Reported NAV per Unit used
for dealing purposes, these establishment costs relating to the creation of the Series Trust are amortized
over the first seven accounting periods of the Series Trust or such other period as the Manager may
determine and in such manner as the Manager in its absolute discretion deems fair in accordance with
the Offering Memorandum.

For Unitholder dealing purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date plus | business day
basis. For financial reporting purposes, transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Transactions
occurring between close of business on the last trade date and the financial reporting year end date have
required an adjustment of TRY 854,972,

Subsequent Events

Effective April 1, 2020, the Investment Manager changed its name from Sompo Japan Nipponkoa Asset
Management Co., Ltd) to Sompo Asset Management Co.. Ltd.

During Quarter 4 and subsequent to year end, a viral Covid-19 pandemic has spread across the globe. It
is causing very significant financial market, economic and social dislocation globally, including very
significant disruption to business and economic activity and very large falls in the values of very many
financial assets. The ultimate extent of the effect of this on the Series Trust is not possible to estimate at
this time.

The Manager has performed a subsequent review from March 19, 2020 through to September 3, 2020
being the date that the financial statements were available to be issued. Through September 3, 2020
investors subscribed TRY329,998,774 into the Series Trust and redeemed TRY394.498.119 capital from
the Series Trust.

The Manager concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional disclosure
in these financial statements.
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2021
895,919,421.30 11,333,380,679
2,691,321.76 34,045,220
893,228,099.54 11,299,335,459
89,322,803,010
0.01 0.1265
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2020 12 31

2020 2019
2,058,710 227,652 1,362,151 150,627
4 6 600,748 66,431 914,653 101,142
186,744 20,650 137,732 15,230
11 272,903 30,178 93,094 10,294
3,119,105 344,911 2,507,630 277,294
7 268,248 29,663 292,561 32,351
9 756,361 83,638 334,905 37,034
1,024,609 113,301 627,466 69,385
4,143,714 458,212 3,135,096 346,679
47,865 5,293 133,035 14,711
6 747,805 82,692 709,440 78,450
9 212,354 23,482 213,578 23,617
690,915 76,401 490,217 54,208
1,246,579 137,847 811,251 89,708
2,945,518 325,715 2,357,521 260,695
9 548,196 60,620 127,575 14,107
548,196 60,620 127,575 14,107
8 50,000 5,529 50,000 5,529
600,000 66,348 600,000 66,348
650,000 71,877 650,000 71,877
4,143,714 458,212 3,135,096 346,679

2021 25
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2020 12 31
2020 2019
5 8,971,680 992,088 10,015,654 1,107,531
(66,854) (7,393) (126,731) (14,014)
8,904,826 984,696 9,888,923 1,093,517
539,448 59,652 512,319 56,652
52,721 5,830 61,113 6,758
(6,747,334) (746,120) (7,017,990) (776,049)
2,749,661 304,058 3,444,365 380,878
2,749,661 304,058 3,444,365 380,878
12 31
2018 12 31 5,529 600,000 66,348 650,000 71,877
- 3,444,365 380,878 3,444,365 380,878
- (3,442,362) (380,656) (3,442,362) (380,656)
2019 12 31 5,529 600,000 66,348 650,000 71,877
- 2,749,661 304,058 2,749,661 304,058
- (2,749,661) (304,058) (2,749,661) (304,058)
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2020 12 31 50,000 5,529 600,000 66,348 650,000 71,877
3,442,362 3,444,365
2020 12 31
2020 2019
2,749,661 304,058 3,444,365 380,878
237,971 26,315 248,817 27,514
313,905 34,712 68,174 7,539
(49,012) (5.420) (25,204) (2.787)
(179,809) (19,883) 64,317 7,112
(85,170) (9,418) (4,220) (467)
38,365 4,242 (26,521) (2,933)
200,697 22,193 (43,515) (4,812)
3,226,608 356,798 3,726,213 412,045
(3,264) (361) - -
i} - 7,246 801
(3,264) (361) 7,246 801
(2,316,333)  (256,140)  (3,582,647)  (396,169)
(210,452) (23,272) (207,275) (22,920)
(2,526,785)  (279,412)  (3,789,922)  (419,090)
696,559 77,025 (56,463) (6,244)
1,362,151 150,627 1,418,614 156,870
2,058,710 227,652 1,362,151 150,627
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2020 2020 2019 2019
0 30 90,065 (414) 282,381 (23,746)
31 60 27,898 an 49,882 (6,574)
61 90 25,623 87 56,610 (12,011)
91 831,379 (373,639) 842,771 (274,660)
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40 50
2020 2019
8,134,715 9,113,418
475,349 464,185
361,616 438,051
8,971,680 10,015,654

150/235



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 2019
(658,279) (640, 290)
2020 12 31 IFRS 15
2020 2019
974,965 1,231,644
(374,217) (316,991)
600,748 914,653
2020 2019
316,991 162,950
66,854 126,731
88,121 -
(97,769) 27,310
374,217 316,991
2020
341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
- 3,264 - - 3,264
341,637 396,854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
3,689 12,096 7,393 4,399 27,577
189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
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2020 12 31
152,059 10,984 50,932 54,273 268,248
2019
341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
- (9,406) - - (9,406)
341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
181,790 358,853 172,710 90,884 804,237
4,099 17,083 8,781 7,335 37,298
- (2,162) - - (2,162)
185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
2019 12 31
155,748 19,316 58,325 58,672 292,561
December 31, 2020 2020 12 31 December 31, 2019 2019 12 31
2020 2019
80,000 96,000 96,000
41,667 50,000 50,000
( )
36
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2020 2019
123,386 334,905
632,975 -
756,361 334,905
2020 2019
- 127,575 213,578
- 84,779 -
212,354 213,578
- - 127,575
- 548,196 -
548,196 127,575
2020 12 31
83,391 2019 113,355
2020 12 31
2020 2019
475,349 464,186
IMS 125,414 116,239
2020 2019
272,903 93,094
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2019
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

Note 2020 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,058,710 1,362,151
Accounts receivable 4.6 600,748 914,653
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 186,744 137,732
Due from affiliated companies 11 272,903 93,094
3,119,105 2,507,630
Non-current assets _
Property, plant and equipment 7 268,248 292,561
Right-of-use asset 9 756,361 334,905
1,024,609 627,466
Total assets USS 4,143,714 3,135,096
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 47,865 133,035
Unearned income and payable to clients 6 747,805 709,440
Lease liability 9 212,354 213,578
Staff bonuses payable 690,915 490,217
Dividends payable 1,246,579 811,251
2,945,518 2,357,521
Non-current liabilities
Lease liability 9 548,196 127,575
548,196 127,575
Shareholder’s equity
Share capital 8 50,000 50,000
Retained earnings 600,000 600,000
650,000 650,000
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity US$ 4,143,714 3,135,096

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board on March , 2021

Director
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

Note 2020 2019
Income

Revenue 5 8,971,680 10,015,654
Less: Bad and doubtful debts 6 (66,854) (126,731)

8,904,826 9,888,923

Other income 539,448 512,319

Rental income 52,721 61,113
Administration expenses 9,10 (6,747,334) (7,017,990)

Results from operating activities 2,749,661 3,444,365

Net income for year USS 2,749,661 3,444,365

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity

Year ended December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

Share Retained

capital earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 2018 50,000 600,000 650,000
Net income for year - 3444365 @ 3,444,365
Dividends declared - (3,442,362) (3,442,362)
Balance at December 31, 2019 50,000 600,000 650,000
Net income for year - 2,749,661 2,749,661
Dividends declared - (2,749,661) (2,749,661)
Balance at December 31, 2020 Uss 50,000 600,000 650,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)
2020 2019
Operating activities
Net income for year 2,749,661 3,444,365
Add/(deduct):
Items not affecting the movement of cash:
Depreciation 237,971 248,817
Net changes in non-cash balances relating to operations:
Accounts receivable 313,905 68,174
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (49,012) (25,204)
Due from affiliated companies (179,809) 64,317
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (85,170) (4,220)
Unearned income and payable to clients 38,365 (26,521)
Staff bonuses payable 200,697 (43,515)
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,226,608 3,726,213
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (3,264) -
Loss on disposal of assets - 7,246
Net cash provided by /(used in) investing activities (3,264) 7,246

Financing activities
Dividends paid

(2,316,333)

(3,582,647)

Repayment of lease liabilities (210,452) (207,275)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,526,785) (3,789,922)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents during year 696,559 (56,463)
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 1,362,151 1,418,614
Cash and cash equivalents end of year USss$ 2,058,710 1,362,151

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

1. Incorporation and background information
International Management Services Ltd. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on August 30, 1974 and provides company and
insurance management and corporate secretarial services. On December 12, 1985, the Company
was licensed under Section 4 (5) of The Companies Management Law (2019 Revision) to carry on
the business of company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13, 1988, the
Company was licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Law 2010, to carry on the business of
insurance management in or within the Cayman I[slands. On July 27, 1994, the Company was
licensed under Section 12 of The Mutual Funds Law (2020 Revision) to carry on the business of
mutual fund administration. On June 7, 2004 the Company was licensed under the Banks and Trust
Companies Law (2020 Revision), to carry on frust business from within the Cayman Islands. On
December 28, 2006, the Company surrendered its Companies Management Licence.
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The IMS Group Ltd., a company also incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.
The financial results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Group™) are
consolidated at year end to form the Group.
The registered office of the Company is 3" Floor Harbour Centre, George Town, P.O. Box 61, Grand
Cayman KY'1-1102, Cayman Islands.
The Group had 25 employees as at December 31, 2020 (2019: 27).

2. Basis of presentation

fa) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements are prepared and approved by the Directors in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis,

(b) Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial assets and financial liabilities which are measured at amortised cost.

(¢) Functional and presentation currency
The Group’s functional and presentation currency is the United States dollar and not the local
currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group’s operations are primarily
conducted in United States dollars (USS$).
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued)
(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

(e) Corresponding figures
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
(f) New Standards effective for annual period beginning 1 January 2020

There are no new standards or amendments effective for annual periods beginning 1January
2020 that will have a significant impact to the Group.

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements. There have been no changes to accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as follows:

(a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries

Date of

incorporation/

Company Business addition
SH Corporate Services Ltd Registered Office Services April 20, 2001
A.S. Nominees Ltd.* Nominee Company January 27, 1978
N.D. Nominee Ltd. * Nominee Company January 27, 1978
N.S. Nominee Ltd.* Nominee Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Limited* Nominee Company October 26, 1979
IMS Trustees Ltd.* Trustee Services April 27, 2012
IMS Liquidations Ltd. Liquidation Services January 25, 2013

* These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established to act only in a
nominee capacity and have not traded in their own right during the year ended December 31,
2020 and 2019.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries (continued)

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences to the date that control ceases. The Group accounts for business
combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The
consideration is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net asset acquired.

(b) Financial assets and liabilities
(i)  Classification

A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another
financial asset, or to exchange financial instruments under conditions that are potentially
favourable or an equity instrument of another enterprise. Financial assets comprise
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables and prepaid expenses and
due from affiliated companies.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or
another financial asset or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable. Financial liabilities comprise due to affiliated
companies, accounts payable and accrued expenses, staff bonuses payable and dividend
payable.

(ii)  Recognition

The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(iii) Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost. For financial assets acquired, cost
is the fair value of the consideration given, while for financial liabilities, cost is the fair
value of consideration received. The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is
the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition,
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and
the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairments.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(iv) Fair value

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore, cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the
estimates.

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities is considered to approximate fair
value due to the immediate or short-term nature of these financial instruments,

(v) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses control over the contractual rights
that comprise that asset. This occurs when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the confract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

(vi) Impairment and calculation of recoverable amount

IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an incurred credit loss model.
The expected credit loss model requires the Group to account for expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is not
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

The Group’s accounts receivable is related to services that are different in nature, the
majority are derived from the provision of fiduciary services and then to a lesser extent
from the provision of registered office services. The clients that these services are
provided to consist of a majority of regulated and administrated hedge funds and insurance
captives, the remainder of clients are companies or trusts belonging to individuals or
individual companies.

Those very same clients may have fees outstanding for the entire period, however, as the
client companies are in good standing it is highly probable that they will settle their dues
when renewing their companies’ registrations in the following year. Management has
determined that providing for these first category receivables in full for all ageing
categories is the most prudent path, conversely as management believe second category
receivables to be fully collectable, no provision would therefore be necessary as no credit
loss is expected.

10
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(vi) Impairment and calculation of recoverable amount (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
[f in a subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
linked objectively to an event occurring after the write-down, the write-down or allowance
is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

(¢) Revenue Recognition

The Group recognises revenue in the amount expected to be received for services supplied at a
point in time or over time as contractual performance obligations are fulfilled and control of
services passes to the customer.

Where the contractual performance obligations are satisfied over time and revenue is recognised
over time.

Where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer. This is at the point where the
service is delivered to the customer and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the service.

Nature of services

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the Group generates its
revenue,

(i) Professional services

Fees generated from a range of professional services including directorship services,
captive insurance management services, trustee services and anti-money laundering
services.

(ii) Management fee from related party
Fees generated from the provision of administration services to a related party,
(iii) Registered office services
Fees generated from the provision of registered office services.
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognizes revenue from the provision of fiduciary and registered office services to
client companies. The specific services required involve the annual provision of a director to act
in his fiduciary capacity for client companies as well as the provision of a client company
registered office for a set annual fee. In addition, as part of the contractual terms, client
companies also require corporate services throughout the financial year on the basis of fees
specified in the contract.

11
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Revenue Recognition
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Fiduciary services are provided for the annual period represented by a calendar year which
coincides with the Group’s financial year. The service is provided for the annual period unless
the client company relationship is terminating, and the director is formally required to resign
from the board, in these cases pro-rated fees are agreed upon for the reduced.

The Group’s standard contracts for fiduciary services involve a flat fee for the year however in
some instances a combination of both a flat fee for annual services recognised over time as well
as a fee based on time spent to perform additional services in the fiduciary function. The director
services agreements outline the conditions of the performance obligations, these are ad-hoc
requests, based on the needs of the client company. These time spent services are distinct in
timing and are recognized based on the date the service was performed.

The provision of registered office services is considered a distinct service which occurs in the
calendar year. This period aligns with the Group and the Government financial year, the revenue
is therefore recognized when the service has been rendered, over the financial year. Refer to
note 6 for further disclosures.

Recognition of contract balances

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for services transferred to the customer.
If the Group performs by fransferring services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the unearned
consideration that is conditional. The Group does not have any contract assets as at December
31,2020 (2019: USS Nil).

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays consideration before the Group transfers services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. The Group’s
contract liabilities comprise unearned income from payments received that relate to the
following years revenue. Refer to note 6 for details.

12
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.
Any resulting exchange gains or losses are credited or debited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

(e} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to maturity of three months or less,

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expected useful lives of the assets using the

respective methods:
Office building 2.5% p.a. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20% p.a.  Straight Line Method
Furniture and equipment 10% p.a. Reducing Balance
Leasehold improvements 10% p.a. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they are identified.

(g) Leases

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on
the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of
any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such
indicators exist.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Income recognition and fees billed in advance

Management fees are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period for which services are provided.

Unearned income and payable to clients comprise funds received from clients as prepayments
for services to be performed in future years.

(i) Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the
accrual basis.

(j) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a
post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
incurred.

(ii)  Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(k) Assets under administration

In the normal course of business, the Group provides fiduciary services by acting as trustee of
Trusts. The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group’s management are not incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements.

4. Financial risk management

(a) Introduction and overview

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks through its financial instruments. This
note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks and the Group’s
objective, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of
capital.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

4. Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s financial risk management framework.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its obligations and arises primarily from the Group’s accounts
receivable, cash and cash equivalents, and due from affiliated companies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each client. The demographics of the Group’s client base, including the default risk of the
industry and country in which clients operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. No client
individually represents more than 5% of the Group’s income.

The Group’s establishes a provision for bad and doubtful accounts that represents its estimate
of incurred losses in respect of accounts receivable. The allowance is for specific balances
within certain ageing periods.

The nature of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for
managing credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior year. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its financial assets.

Management of credit risk

The Group manages credit risk in respect of cash and cash equivalents by using reputable
financial institutions to safeguard these financial assets. Management does not expect any
financial losses as a result of these relationships.

The Group manages credit risk in respect of accounts receivables by performing initial credit
evaluations of the financial condition of its clients. Periodic reviews of outstanding customer
balances are performed by management. Management does not expect any significant
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. Management believe that unimpaired amounts
that are past due are still collectible in full.

15
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

The Group’s aging of accounts receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

2020 2020 2019 2019
0 to 30 days 90,065 (414) 282,381 (23,746)
31 to 60 days 27,898 (77) 49,882 (6,574)
61 to 90 days 25,623 (87) 56,610 (12,011)
More than 91 days 831,379 (373,639) 842,771 (274,660)

US$ 974,965 (374,217) 1,231,644 (316,991)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The nature of the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk and its objectives, policies and processes
for managing liquidity risk have not changed significantly from the prior year.

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, will affect
the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return.

(e) Currency risk

Currency risks arise as a portion of the Group’s payment of expenses are in Cayman Island
dollars. Currency risk is mitigated as the Cayman Islands dollar is fixed against the United States
dollar.

() Capital management

The Group’s regulator, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (the “Authority™), sets and monitors
capital requirements for the Group under the Monetary Authority Law (2020 Revision), the
Companies Management Law (2019 Revision), the Insurance Law, 2010, the Mutual Funds Law
(2020 Revision) and the Bank and Trust Companies Law (2020 Revision). The Group is required to
have a minimum net worth of CI$400,000 (US$500,000) and has a 3 month filing deadline after year
end date, The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain future development of
the business. The Group has complied with all imposed capital requirements throughout the year,
and there were no material changes to the Group’s management of capital during the year.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

5. Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a clients and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

A disaggregation of revenue recognised from contracts with clients by service offering at the
reporting date is outlined below.

Disaggregated revenue
2020 2019
Professional services 8,134,715 9,113,418
Management fee from related party 475,349 464,185
Registered office services 361,616 438,051
USS 8,971,680 10,015,654

Annual fees are fees charged for the services noted above to client companies. This is primarily in
the form of fixed fees, with additional fees earned on a time spent basis as charged throughout the
year. Revenue is recognised over time as services are rendered or at a point in time when control of
the service transfers to the clients.

Contract liabilities

The following table provides information about the contract liabilities from contracts with clients,
the figures below constitute the revenue portion of amounts represented as unearned income and
payable to clients:

Contract Liabilities
2020 2019

Increases due to payments received that relate to the following
years revenue (658,279) (640,290)

No information is provided about remaining performance obligations at December 31, 2020 that have
original expected duration of one year or less, as allowed by IFRS 15.

17
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

6. Accounts receivable

2020 2019

Gross accounts receivable 974,965 1,231,644
Provision for doubtful accounts (374,217) (316,991)

US$ 600,748 914.653

Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

Balance at beginning of year 316,991 162,950
Charge to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 66,854 126,731
Recoveries of doubtful debts 88,121 -
Doubtful debts written off (97,769) 27,310

US$ 374.217 316,991

7. Property, plant and equipment
Office  Computer Furniture & Leasehold
2020 building equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
of year
Additions - 3,264 - - 3,264
Disposals - - - - -
Balance at end of year 341,637 396,854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
of year

Charge for year 3,689 12,096 7,393 4,399 27,577
Balance at end of year 189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
Net book value at
December 31, 2020 US§ 152,059 10,984 50,932 54,273 268,248
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

7. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Office  Computer Furniture & Leasehold

2019 building equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340

of year
Additions - - - - -
Disposals - (9,406) - - (9,4006)
Balance at end of year 341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 181,790 358,853 172,710 90,884 804,237

of year
Charge for year 4,099 17,083 8,781 7,335 37,298
Disposals - (2,162) - - (2,162)
Balance at end of year 185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
Net book value at
December 31, 2020 US$ 155,748 19,316 58,325 58,672 292,561

8. Share capital
2020 2019

Authorised:

80,000 shares of CI$1 each US$ 96,000 96,000
Issued and fully paid:

41,667 shares US$ 50,000 50,000
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

9. Leases

The Group has a lease for its operating premises, a floor of an office building. The lease is reflected
on the consolidated statement of financial position as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The
Group classifies its right-of-use asset in a consistent manner to its property, plant and equipment
(see Note 7).

The lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to
sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases may
only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. The Group’s current lease has a
remaining term of 7 months. Management believe the renewal of the lease under the current terms
for a further 36 months is reasonably certain.

The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing activities recognised on the balance
sheet:

Right-of-use asset 2020 2019
Office premises 123,386 334,905
Renewed Office premises 632,975 -

US$ 756,361 334,905

Lease liabilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

2020 2019
Less than one year

- Current lease 127,575 213,578
- Lease renewal 84,779 -
212,354 213,578

Greater than one year
- Current lease - 127,575
- Lease renewal 548,196 -
US$ 548,196 127,575
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2020
(stated in United States dollars)

10. Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Fidelity Pension Plan, a defined contribution pension scheme. The
Group is required to match each employee’s contribution on a one to one basis up to 5% of the
employee’s annual salary. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group contributed
US$83,391 (2019: US$113,355).

11

Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group eamned the following administration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2020 2019
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. US$ 475,349 464,186
IMS Securities Ltd. 125,414 116,239
Amounts due from related affiliates are as follows:

2020 2019
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. US$ 272,903 93,094

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group paid US$ 4,233,086 (2019: US$4,464,445)
in short-term employment benefits and US$ 63,289 (2019: US$88,356) in long-term employment
benefits to key management personnel.

12. Contingencies
The Group, in its fiduciary capacity, may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. In the opinion of the Directors, which is based on the advice of the Group’s legal counsel,
no contingency provisions are required at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

13. Subsequent events
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 25, 2021 which is the date that the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.
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Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Turkish Lira Money Market
Fund (the “ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities, including the schedule of investments as at
March 19, 2021, the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Series Trust as at March 19, 2021, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
US generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

(“ ISAs” ). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“ Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (* IESBA Code” )
together with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trustee
those matters we are required to state to the Trustee in an auditor®s report and for
no other purpose. We do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Trustee, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Series Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust"s

financial reporting process.
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Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series
Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®™s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Turkish Lira Money Market
Fund (the “ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Multi Strategies Fund, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities, including the schedule of investments as at
March 19, 2020, the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Series Trust as at March 19, 2020, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
US generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing

(“ ISAs” ). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“ Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (* IESBA Code” )
together with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trustee
those matters we are required to state to the Trustee in an auditor®s report and for
no other purpose. We do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Trustee, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we have formed.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Series Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust"s

financial reporting process.
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Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series
Trust®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®™s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

September 03, 2020

230/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

231/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 12 31

IFRS 2020 12 31

1SA

1ESBA 1ESBA
1ESBA

IFRS

I1SA

1SA

232/235



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 25

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®"S REPORT
To the Directors of International Management Services Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services
Ltd. (the “ Company” ), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders® equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared uner the
accounting policies set out therein.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects the financial position of the Company as at December 31,2020, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (* IFRS” ).

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company®s Directors

as a body and for regulatory filing purposes only. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
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shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in

writing.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (* I1SA” ). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants® Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“ IESBA Code” ), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company®s financial reporting
process.

Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor®"s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company"s internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company"s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

GrantThornton
George Town,
Grand Cayman
March 25, 2021
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